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“It either works or it doesn’t, and it doesn’t matter.”
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PREFACE



THIS BOOK CHRONICLES Henry Kissinger’s management of the Vietnam War. It focuses on his efforts to combine military strategy with diplomacy to extricate the United States from Vietnam with honor. Kissinger inherited a weak bargaining position on Vietnam, but he still believed that he, and he alone, could deliver a favorable peace agreement.


When Henry Kissinger entered the White House in 1969 as President Richard Nixon’s national security adviser, there were over 500,000 US troops in Vietnam. American combat deaths were about two hundred each week, a number that was likely to grow as Communist forces increased their assault on South Vietnam. The cost of the war to US taxpayers was $30 billion per year. Kissinger believed that these conditions demanded a negotiated settlement to the war. There were simply too many explicit constraints on US power to make a military victory likely. “However we got into Vietnam,” he observed, “whatever the judgment of our actions, ending the war honorably is essential for the peace of the world.”1


An honorable peace, according to Kissinger, had to meet several essential conditions. First, there had to be a lasting cease-fire between North Vietnam and South Vietnam. This cease-fire had to include the neighboring countries of Laos and Cambodia, both of which had been caught up in the conflict. Second, there must be a mutual US–North Vietnamese troop withdrawal from South Vietnam. North Vietnamese forces operating in Laos and Cambodia also had to be redeployed to North Vietnam. Third, North Vietnam had to recognize the Demilitarized Zone as an international boundary. Fourth, with the signing of a peace agreement, all prisoners of war had to be released. Finally, Kissinger argued that any negotiated settlement had to leave the Saigon government in full political control in South Vietnam. He initially rejected North Vietnam’s proposals for a coalition government in South Vietnam, which he feared would “destroy the existing political structure and thus lead to a Communist takeover.” His goal, therefore, was to negotiate a final peace agreement in Paris that traded an American exit from Vietnam for political guarantees for Saigon. “We were determined,” Kissinger wrote in his memoirs, “to do our utmost to enable Saigon to grow in security and prosperity so that it could prevail in any political struggle. We sought not an interval before collapse, but lasting peace with honor.”2


To accomplish his strategic “peace with honor” goals, Kissinger promoted a tactical “war for peace” in Vietnam. But where has there ever been a successful “war for peace”? It’s a theorist’s concept, possible only if one is very distantly removed from the actual business of killing and dying and the aftereffects that produces. Still, with the arrogance and hubris of someone new to power, he confidently assured Nixon that he could pressure Hanoi to accept concessions it had routinely rejected during Lyndon Johnson’s presidency by combining great power diplomacy with savage military blows against North Vietnam. He also advocated attacks against North Vietnamese sanctuaries inside Laos and Cambodia and the mining of North Vietnamese ports. “I can’t believe that a fourth-rate power like North Vietnam doesn’t have a breaking point,” Kissinger told his aides during his first weeks at the White House. “Hit them,” he told Nixon, and Hanoi would beg “for private talks.”3


Finding that delicate balance between military strikes and skillful negotiations was exactly what Kissinger believed was his specialty. In over five decades of telling and retelling his role in the Vietnam War, Kissinger has carefully constructed a narrative that is detailed, somewhat self-effacing, and on the surface, balanced. He has skillfully mixed criticism of the Nixon administration’s policies with disdain for its critics. He has both downplayed the war’s expansion on his watch and celebrated it. He blamed Kennedy-style idealism for the US entry into the war and championed his own realism for ending it. Kissinger gave the United States an honorable withdrawal from Vietnam, he claims, by linking Hanoi’s geopolitical desires to security guarantees for the United States’ South Vietnamese allies. In the end, Kissinger argues that Watergate and a weak-kneed Congress had made it impossible to defend South Vietnam, not his failures as a negotiator or strategist.


The Vietnam War remains Kissinger’s most enduring foreign policy legacy. No war since the American Civil War has seared the US national consciousness like Vietnam. The controversies surrounding it tore the nation apart, and its legacies continue to shape US foreign relations today. Kissinger’s role in this war has been studied in detail, but this book is the first to hold his record to a scrupulous account based on his own definitions of success and the evidence provided by recently released material in the Richard Nixon Presidential Library, Kissinger’s papers at Yale University, and South Vietnamese sources contained in the National Archives in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. On the strength of that it is clear that the national security adviser’s war for peace was more than oxymoronic: it was a total failure. Kissinger failed in each of his stated goals to achieve “peace with honor.” He failed to end the diplomatic deadlock in Paris or to negotiate a political settlement in South Vietnam that left the Saigon government a reasonable chance to survive following the American withdrawal. He failed to use great power diplomacy or military force to compel Hanoi to make compromises in the Paris negotiations. He failed to force a mutual North Vietnamese troop withdrawal from South Vietnam. He failed to neutralize Laos and Cambodia. He failed to secure a lasting cease-fire. He failed to obtain an international border at the Demilitarized Zone. He failed to link the release of all political prisoners to a lasting cease-fire. He failed to consult the Saigon government about its future until it was too late to change course in Paris.


At home, Kissinger also did much more harm than good. He failed to build a coalition of supportive allies for his “war for peace” within the Nixon administration or in Congress. He failed to contain US domestic opposition to his policies. He failed the president by overstating progress in Paris and the likelihood of success following US military escalation. Each of these disappointments narrowed his future options and shortened the time he had to achieve “peace with honor.”


Kissinger’s voluminous writings on the subject have obscured his failures in Vietnam, and perhaps that is the point of them. Like the Internet, Kissinger provides huge amounts of apparent information, not all of it reliable. He’s a conspiratorially minded theorist, and he often wanders far from the facts. But facts are stubborn things, and it is possible, I think, to examine the historical record in detail to offer a more complete picture of Kissinger and his failed “war for peace.” This research has been made easier now that his monopoly on the actual historical documents has ended. Scholars now have access to hundreds of thousands of pages of National Security Council files, the verbatim transcripts of the secret meetings in Paris, and over twenty thousand pages of Kissinger’s taped telephone conversations. Utilizing this new material, this book is the first to analyze the cumulative effect of Kissinger’s strategic and diplomatic failures on the final peace agreement. It demonstrates how Kissinger’s misplaced faith in his own abilities to secure an honorable peace prolonged the war unnecessarily and sealed South Vietnam’s fate. For all his faults, Kissinger (no matter what) could not change reality on the ground. He made a bad situation worse, however, with his reckless assumptions about the use of force and diplomacy.
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CHAPTER ONE



THE APPRENTICE, 1965–1969


IN THE EARLY MORNING of November 25, 1968, Henry Kissinger, a Harvard professor and longtime foreign policy adviser to perennial Republican presidential hopeful Nelson Rockefeller, walked into the Pierre Hotel at the intersection of Fifth Avenue and Sixty-First Street in Manhattan, and took the elevator to the thirty-ninth floor to Richard Nixon’s transition headquarters. Nixon had just narrowly defeated Democrat Hubert Humphrey in the 1968 US presidential election and was wasting no time putting his new administration together. The Pierre was an unlikely place for the president-elect to have his transition headquarters, given its ties to the East Coast establishment that Nixon so despised. Kissinger, however, had spent much of his adult life trying to gain entry into that world, courting Rockefeller and others who saw democratic collapse as one of the century’s most pressing concerns. Yet Kissinger and the president-elect held many views in common. Both were classical realists who believed the world needed strong leaders that acted without passion to restore order and stability to the international system. They placed great emphasis on what Kissinger called “consequential diplomacy”—the role of great men in advancing the interest of the nation and in shaping political outcomes.1 They thought that the United States alone was strong enough to defeat fascism, communism, and other forms of tyranny. They also considered themselves self-made men. Neither was born to the upper class. Each had achieved great heights because of talent, not patronage.


Kissinger later claimed that he was surprised by the invitation to the Pierre. He had spent much of the 1960s supporting other Republicans at Nixon’s expense. He had declared that Nixon was “unfit to be the president” and thought the president-elect was “a hollow man” who had a dangerous “misunderstanding of foreign policy.”2 He recognized Nixon’s personal insecurities, and they worried him. Haunted by the inconsequential life his father had led, Nixon was a striver and a loner, someone who demanded loyalty and wanted to be admired. Kissinger saw these characteristics as potentially damaging in the nuanced world of foreign affairs. But Nixon had power, something Kissinger had been seeking without much luck for over a decade.


Nixon was well aware of Kissinger’s “disparaging comments.” He knew that Kissinger had challenged his “competence” in foreign policy, but he expected this “from a Rockefeller associate” and “chalked it up to politics.”3 Others saw something more sinister behind Nixon’s willingness to overlook Kissinger’s comments and contact him. Journalist Seymour Hersh claimed that Nixon ignored Kissinger’s remarks because the Harvard professor had given the presidential campaign team secret information about the Johnson administration’s negotiating position during the Vietnam peace talks in Paris.4 “There is a better than even chance that Johnson will order a bombing halt at approximately mid-October,” Kissinger wrote to the Nixon campaign shortly after his September 1968 trip to Paris.5 With this information, Hersh claimed, the campaign could move behind the scenes to block progress in any negotiations that might surface.


As Kissinger predicted, on October 31, just five days before the 1968 presidential election, a desperate Lyndon Johnson publicly pledged to stop all US bombing and shelling of the Democratic Republic of Vietnam (DRV, or North Vietnam) for the first time since Operation Rolling Thunder, the sustained bombing of North Vietnam, had begun in February 1965. Johnson also announced that he would expand the peace talks to include the South Vietnamese government and its sworn enemy, the National Liberation Front (NLF, derogatorily called the Viet Cong). He hoped that his October surprise would allow the Democratic nominee, his vice president, Hubert H. Humphrey, to close the narrow gap in the race with Nixon. On the eve of the election, Johnson’s plan seemed to have worked. There were only a few percentage points separating the two candidates, and momentum was in Humphrey’s favor—until the South Vietnamese president, Nguyen Van Thieu, announced that he would not send a representative to Paris and that his government would never negotiate with the NLF without political guarantees.6


There was much speculation in the press at the time that Kissinger had not only told the Nixon campaign secret information about Johnson’s negotiating position in Paris, but had also used Anna Chennault, a longtime friend to Republicans and anti-Communists in Asia, to deliver a message to the South Vietnamese government telling it not to agree to negotiate in Paris. The implication was that Saigon would get a much better deal from the Nixon administration.7 In his 1987 memoir, In the Jaws of History, Bui Diem, who at that time was South Vietnam’s ambassador to the United States, has confirmed contact between Chennault, the Nixon campaign, and the Saigon government, but he has downplayed its influence, claiming that Thieu had already decided that he would not negotiate with the Communists.8


Newly released documents from Trung tam luu tru quoc gia II (National Archives II) in Ho Chi Minh City support Diem’s claim.9 The Saigon government was incensed by rumors that Anna Chennault influenced the decision not to negotiate. It was true that she had hosted many dinners at her Watergate apartment along the banks of the Potomac River in Washington that had included several top South Vietnamese officials, but Saigon’s leaders claimed that these events were seen as a way to convince the Americans to continue to support South Vietnam, not opportunities to listen to advice from Chennault. Having lost over 100,000 troops and an equally high number of civilians, and facing increased military pressure from Hanoi’s People’s Army of Vietnam (PAVN), Saigon government officials claimed that they did not need a dilettante to tell them how to deal with the Communists, no matter how many friends she had in Washington.10


But Anna Chennault was no dilettante. She was the widow of Lt. General Claire Chennault, the American leader of the Flying Tigers, who defended China against Japanese invaders during WWII. Born Chen Xiangmei, Anna was a war correspondent in China when she met her future husband. After the war, the two founded the Civil Air Transport that operated on mainland China until Mao’s victory. Fleeing to Taiwan, the Chennaults became fixtures of the “China Lobby,” an alliance of conservative Americans and Chinese nationalists who blamed the Truman administration for “losing” China. In the late 1950s, after her husband’s death, Chennault moved to America and took over the running of the Flying Tiger Line, then the biggest freight airline in the world.11 She became a steadfast supporter of Republican politics and politicians, and as one Nixon official observed, she was a “very shrewd operator.”12 She would have been a very likely go-between had Saigon not so readily dismissed this claim.


The idea that Kissinger was somehow behind a secret plan to convince Thieu not to negotiate with the NLF because Saigon would get a better deal from Nixon was even more preposterous. “Kissinger was totally irrelevant to our [South Vietnamese] deliberations,” one former South Vietnamese official later claimed. “We had been uneasy with the Johnson administration’s discussion of negotiations at our July 18 meeting in Honolulu and had long planned to back out of any talks that the White House was using to score political points during the 1968 presidential election. We did not need a college professor from Harvard telling us how to solve our diplomatic problems.”13


Kissinger, too, has always downplayed his role in the 1968 presidential campaign. In the first volume of his massive memoirs, White House Years, he argues that he had only met Nixon once prior to November 1968, and he repeatedly denies having had any direct contact with the Nixon team during the campaign. “During the national campaign in 1968,” Kissinger writes, “several Nixon emissaries—some self-appointed—telephoned me for counsel. I took the position that I would answer specific questions on foreign policy, but that I would not offer general advice or volunteer suggestions.”14 Nixon certainly had other sources of information inside the Johnson White House who were close to negotiations. But much of the evidence suggests that Kissinger did intervene on Nixon’s behalf, even if his meddling did not influence decision making in Saigon as much as Hersh and others claim.


It was not access to information that made Kissinger so appealing to Nixon. It was in equal measures Kissinger’s understanding of power—Nixon believed that he needed Kissinger to shape and implement his broad foreign policy designs—and his willingness to make difficult decisions in the face of public pressure. Nixon liked what Kissinger thought about the exercise of power. He had read Kissinger’s early scholarly work on foreign policy in a nuclear world and was impressed. He also believed that Kissinger shared his belief that domestic politics (not elections) was merely fixing “outhouses in Peoria.”15 Both men relished the arena of foreign affairs, and Nixon thought that Kissinger would be useful in creating the stable world order that he envisioned. Furthermore, Kissinger seemed to understand that Nixon’s foreign policy background made bold moves possible. He confided to close friends that Nixon might just be able to make huge inroads in bringing Moscow and Beijing in from the cold.16 By reorienting American power and prestige following a necessary withdrawal from Vietnam, Kissinger thought a Nixon presidency could tackle larger and more important foreign policy problems. In short, Nixon liked Kissinger as a potential junior associate in foreign policy and Kissinger admired Nixon’s willingness to hire someone for his expertise rather than for patronage. Kissinger and Nixon were two self-made men who would take on the world together.


When Nixon and Kissinger finally met at the Pierre, the president-elect did not talk about grand strategy or the war in Vietnam; rather, he outlined the massive organizational problems he faced. He had very little confidence in the State Department. He also thought that the Johnson administration had ignored the Joint Chiefs of Staff on most issues dealing with Vietnam at its peril. He thought that the CIA was staffed by “Ivy League liberals who behind the facade of analytical objectivity” were usually pushing their own agenda.17 Nixon also believed that the Johnson White House was run too informally, with key foreign policy decisions made over lunch.18 All of these concerns, and his personal insecurities, left Nixon with the desire to run foreign policy from the White House. He needed a strong national security adviser to help him centralize power and to develop a robust and credible foreign policy.


Despite his concerns about Nixon’s character and capabilities, Kissinger agreed with the president-elect’s reorganization plan. He told Nixon that he should set up a strong National Security Council staff in the White House and then sideline the State Department. By cutting out the State Department completely, Nixon could control foreign policy discussions and limit the influence of career professionals who had snubbed him when he was vice president under Dwight Eisenhower. Like Nixon, Kissinger had a profound disdain for bureaucracy, going well beyond the usual carping that went on in Washington. He thought the seasoned experts at the State Department tended their own gardens but were incapable of broad strategic thought. Zhou Enlai, the Chinese prime minister, once told Kissinger, “You don’t like bureaucracy.” Kissinger replied, “Yes, and it’s mutual; the bureaucracy doesn’t like me.”19 After sharing their mutual suspicions and ideas about governmental reorganization, Nixon awkwardly showed Kissinger the door, making some vague references about continued conversations on these matters.


After his meeting with Nixon, Kissinger returned to Harvard that afternoon to teach his foreign policy seminar. The next day he received a phone call from John Mitchell, a senior member of Nixon’s campaign staff, asking him to return to New York for a follow-up meeting. When he arrived at the Pierre Hotel, Mitchell asked him, “What have you decided about the National Security job?”20 Kissinger had had no idea that he had been offered it—during their discussion the previous day, Nixon had never mentioned a specific job for him in the new administration. Once Nixon confirmed that he wanted him as his national security adviser, Kissinger uncharacteristically asked for some time to consider the offer. It now seems clear that his own insecurities caused him to ask permission from his Harvard colleagues and his former boss, Nelson Rockefeller, to join the president’s staff. Most agreed that Kissinger had a duty to accept the position, but some felt that working for Nixon was beyond the pale. No one questioned Nixon’s rationale in selecting him. As historian Robert Dallek has noted, both “were outsiders who distrusted establishment liberals” and both had “grandiose dreams of recasting world affairs.”21 They also shared an obsession with secrecy. One week later, Kissinger accepted the offer. He was the first of Nixon’s national security team to be announced, a telling statement of the new president’s desire to ignore the foreign policy establishment.


Kissinger was an able ally in pushing the State Department aside. He believed that the department was filled by “probably the ablest and most professional group of men and women in public service,” but the “reverse of their dedication is the conviction that a lifetime of service and study has given them insights that transcend the untrained and shallow-rooted views of political appointees.”22 Nixon was a little blunter: he wanted to take power “from the bureaucrats and place it where it belonged, in the White House.”23 Accordingly, Nixon appointed William Rogers, a lawyer and former attorney general, as secretary of state precisely because he lacked foreign policy experience. Nixon told Kissinger that he “considered Rogers’s unfamiliarity with the subject an asset because it guaranteed that policy direction would remain in the White House.”24 He also wanted a secretary of state who was a good negotiator rather than a policy maker—“a role he reserved for himself” and his national security adviser.25 Rogers was a skilled manager of people, Nixon explained, so the “little boys in the State Department” had to watch themselves, because he would not tolerate their nonsense.26


Kissinger, however, saw Rogers as an unqualified rival. Shortly after they met, he concluded that Rogers proved the old adage that “high office teaches decision-making, not substance.”27 He did not believe that Rogers would grow more perceptive about the intricacies of foreign policy simply by being on the job a long time. Rogers thought tactically, like the lawyer he was, but he did not possess a strategic or geopolitical mind. “The novice Secretary of State,” Kissinger wrote disparagingly of Rogers, “thus finds on his desk not policy analyses or options, but stacks of dispatches which he is asked to initial and do so urgently, if you please.”28 Kissinger himself treated Rogers like a petty clerk. He later explained that once Nixon had appointed “a strong personality, expert in foreign policy, as the national security advisor, competition with the Secretary of State became inevitable.”29 (Talking in the third person was a favorite way of Kissinger to insert objectivity into any conversation.) Throughout his time at the White House, he did what he could to undermine Rogers in the eyes of the president.


Melvin Laird was Nixon’s inspired choice as defense secretary. Laird (R-WI) was a longtime member of the House of Representatives and had considerable expertise in defense matters. On the surface, Laird was an odd choice for a president who wanted to consolidate power because of his years of experience in Congress, but Nixon thought he was reliable and did not crave the spotlight the way Robert S. McNamara and Clark Clifford, Johnson’s two secretaries of defense, had. Laird knew how Congress worked and how to count votes, two qualities that Nixon admired. Laird was also willing to mend fences between the White House and the Joint Chiefs, something the president strongly encouraged. Unlike Kissinger, Laird had sensitive political antennae and understood the political need to withdraw US forces from Vietnam. He came to the Nixon administration determined to rescue the prestige and capabilities of the American military, which he thought had suffered during the four years of war in Vietnam. Laird and Kissinger disagreed on most matters relating to the war, and their outsized personalities often led to clashes inside the Nixon administration. Kissinger saw Laird as a skilled policy maker, though he thought he “acted on the assumption that he had a constitutional right to seek to outsmart and outmaneuver anyone with whom his office brought him into contact.”30 Laird challenged Kissinger on Vietnam policy repeatedly, often getting the best of his more educated colleague.


Nixon liked his new triad, and he skillfully played Laird and Kissinger off each other to achieve his objectives and to satisfy his need for respect, attention, and power. But when it came to foreign affairs, Kissinger was his most trusted confidant. Nixon’s very first meeting on January 21, 1969, his first day in office, was with his national security adviser, cementing Kissinger’s role. Kissinger treasured Nixon’s confidence, and he would use his trusted role with the president to shape and influence the administration’s response to the war in Vietnam.


From his very first day in the White House, Kissinger plotted to overturn the bureaucracy and to control decision making. While others in the administration attended inauguration ceremonies, Kissinger was busy implementing Nixon’s radical bureaucratic revolution. Most important, three National Security Decision Memorandums (NSDM 1, 2, and 3) restructured the machinery of government, making the NSC the center of policy making and relegating the State Department to a secondary role in diplomacy. Kissinger also required that his NSC clear all policy cables before they were sent overseas, thus marginalizing the State Department from most foreign policy matters. Without informing Rogers, Kissinger then sent letters under Nixon’s name to heads of state around the globe, telling them of this important change. Relishing the speed and secrecy with which Kissinger carried out his plans, Nixon allowed the NSC to double in size, and he tripled its budget during his time in office. One of Kissinger’s most trusted aides, Lawrence Eagleburger, later noted that Nixon and Kissinger “developed a conspiratorial approach to foreign policy management”31 with the government’s reorganization. “It was a palace coup,” declared William Bundy, a former State Department official, “entirely constitutional but at the same time revolutionary.”32 Historian George Herring observed, “What had been created in 1947 as a coordinating mechanism [the NSC] became a little State Department.”33


But Nixon and Kissinger did more than just agree on process and the need for secrecy. They also generally agreed on key strategic issues. Both were rather pessimistic about the war in Vietnam and wanted to move on to what they considered more important foreign policy issues, such as arms limitations with the Soviets. Nixon told Kissinger that he did not want to devote all of his foreign policy time and energy to Vietnam, as Johnson had done, because the war was really a short-term problem.34 Nixon was more than willing to let Kissinger handle the task of developing policy options for Vietnam as long as he left the decision making up to the president. Kissinger agreed, stating that the general problem in Vietnam had been that military operations and diplomacy had been divorced. He believed that negotiations could provide a favorable, or at least acceptable, outcome for the president if the government’s various programs in Vietnam were studied carefully. The war could then be managed, coordinated, and “the whole puzzle put together.”35


Prelude: Designing a Policy


Kissinger had actually begun putting the whole puzzle together years before he joined the Nixon administration. While at Harvard, he used his prerogative as director of the Defense Policy Seminar to invite to campus experts who dealt closely with Vietnam. He understood that the conflict in Vietnam was the most pressing foreign policy issue of the day and that to gain influence in Washington, he would have to develop expertise on the war.


One of his first guests in early 1965 was John McNaughton, Defense Secretary Robert S. McNamara’s assistant and an expert on counterinsurgency. McNaughton had come highly recommended by Kissinger’s Harvard colleague Roger Fisher, who taught at the law school and was a specialist on international negotiations. Fisher would later write, “McNaughton did more sustained thinking about the benefits of both escalation and withdrawal [from Vietnam] than any of the advocates for either position.”36 Kissinger had also heard that McNamara relied thoroughly on McNaughton to develop policy options on Vietnam, so McNaughton became a source of information and a model for Kissinger.


At Harvard, McNaughton spoke about the military problems that the United States faced in Vietnam and was incredibly pessimistic about the Saigon government’s capabilities. He did not believe that the Johnson administration could defeat the Communists through air power alone, and he was not in favor of a major escalation in the number of American ground forces. McNaughton summed up his remarks by making six observations about why the United States should withdraw from Vietnam. To begin with, he did not believe that Vietnam was in America’s “sphere of influence.” He also felt that the Vietnamese revolutionaries had taken up arms because they had no other path to political power. He thought that the high morale of Communist forces presented the Saigon government with significant obstacles. He thought that the Saigon government was corrupt, elite, and “full of slobs.” He believed that the weak and poor in Vietnam should ultimately prevail over the social elite. And, finally, he believed in an all-Vietnamese solution for South Vietnam.37 McNaughton ended his remarks by asking, what would happen if South Vietnam collapsed? He believed that the United States could then walk away from Vietnam with its prestige intact.38


McNaughton’s comments caught Kissinger by surprise. He stated publicly that he thought McNaughton’s pessimism was unwarranted and showed poor judgment. He said as much to his former Harvard colleague National Security Adviser McGeorge Bundy in a letter dated March 30, 1965, assuring him that he believed Johnson’s “present actions in Vietnam are essentially right.” Kissinger concluded his letter by expressing his “respect for the courage with which the administration is acting.”39 Privately, however, he shared McNaughton’s skepticism about American prospects in Vietnam. Since the Kennedy administration, Kissinger had had grave doubts about Washington’s commitment to the war. “All history proves that there is no cheap and easy way to defeat guerilla movements,” he wrote in 1962. “South Vietnam has been plagued by Communist Viet Cong attacks ever since it became independent in 1954. Their defeat can only be accomplished by adequate military force.” Kissinger concluded, “I hope that we… have made the internal commitment to ourselves to see that a sufficient military effort is made to end the guerrilla attacks; we cannot be content with just maintaining an uneasy peace.”40 Of course, an uneasy peace is exactly what he agreed to in 1973. For Kissinger, the purpose of having power himself was to help develop policies that overcame what he perceived as the Kennedy administration’s tentative reaction to crises. If Kennedy had demanded reforms from the Saigon government and gotten them, he could have backed South Vietnam from a place of power.


Kissinger sharpened his critique of America’s Vietnam policy during the last months of the 1964 presidential race. Lyndon Johnson was seeking election in his own right after Kennedy’s assassination in November 1963, and he was running against a host of Republicans who had sharp differences on foreign affairs. Kissinger believed that Nelson Rockefeller, whom he was advising on foreign policy, needed to distance himself from Johnson and from the rest of the Republican field, especially front-runner Barry Goldwater, a conservative senator from Arizona. Goldwater had a scorched-earth policy when it came to Vietnam. He wanted to carry the war to North Vietnam and advocated massive bombing raids against Communist troops and supply lines.41 He also lamented that the fact that the United States had not used nuclear weapons against North Vietnam. Johnson, in Kissinger’s mind, was simply carrying out Kennedy’s timid plans to support South Vietnam without the use of American troops. Kissinger believed that Rockefeller should make the presidential race a contest over Vietnam.


Rockefeller never grasped the subtleties of Kissinger’s Vietnam policy papers, however. Kissinger suggested that Rockefeller force Johnson to admit that the war was going badly, that the NLF controlled much of the countryside, and that the war was now a region-wide conflict also involving Laos and Cambodia. The Soviets and the Chinese sponsored the insurgents fighting the South Vietnamese government, and Kissinger argued that Rockefeller should make sure that the American people understood that this all had begun on Kennedy and Johnson’s watch. Moreover, the Johnson administration’s “hesitancy to be firm and unwavering in the face of Communist advances in Laos and Vietnam,” Kissinger wrote in September 1964, “has increased the trend toward neutrality in our SEATO allies.” He urged Rockefeller to link American failures in Vietnam to larger foreign policy issues: “Isolated problems or states no longer exist. Single, simple remedies are no longer available. Every event has worldwide consequences.”42


But Rockefeller could never find his footing on Vietnam. He often ignored Kissinger’s recommendations, instead staking out policy positions that were similar to Lyndon Johnson’s. Rockefeller and Kissinger also underestimated the amount of public support for Goldwater and his recklessly clear positions.


At the Republican National Convention in San Francisco, where Goldwater easily won the Republican Party’s 1964 presidential nomination, Rockefeller saw his desires to moderate his party’s foreign policy positions evaporate. As he gave his convention speech, Rockefeller was booed so loudly he could barely be heard over the crowd. All of Kissinger’s work to create a nuanced Vietnam position was lost on an angry mob. For Kissinger, the experience was terrifying. According to his official biographer, Niall Ferguson, “Time and again Kissinger was reminded ominously of the politics of his German childhood.”43 In Goldwater and those who supported him, Kissinger saw a movement that was “similar to European fascism.”44


When the Republican Party rejected Rockefeller’s ideas in San Francisco, Kissinger decided to vote for Lyndon Johnson and see whether he could influence the Democrats and maybe hit the reset button on his government experience. However, as historian Robert Dallek has noted, it was a Republican, not a Democrat, who secured Kissinger his first government job dealing directly with the Vietnam War.45


In the spring of 1965, Kissinger rekindled his friendship with Harvard colleague George Lodge, the son of Republican presidential hopeful Henry Cabot Lodge Jr. Johnson had recently appointed the elder Lodge ambassador to South Vietnam, a position he had also held in the Kennedy administration. Kissinger had supported Lodge’s appointment enthusiastically, and their relationship led the ambassador to hire Kissinger to conduct a strategic assessment of the American position in Vietnam. Kissinger jumped at the chance to participate in policy making, even if he was only reporting to the ambassador.


In preparation for his October 1965 visit to Vietnam, the first for Kissinger, he made a list of experts to consult and books to read. He wrote to several US military leaders who had spent time in Vietnam and found that most were optimistic about the Army of the Republic of Vietnam (ARVN) but were less positive about the Saigon government. Most of Kissinger’s energies, however, were devoted to understanding the American position. He sent a letter to Colonel John “Mike” Dunn, Lodge’s former military attaché in Saigon, who had a rather bleak view of American personnel in South Vietnam. Dunn told Kissinger that the American military in Vietnam was “the most professional in their viewpoint” but the CIA was the best informed, though “not always objective.” The embassy people, Dunn warned, were “seldom either professional in their attitudes or particularly well informed.”46 This last statement stuck with Kissinger. He was, after all, making his report to the ambassador and the embassy staff.


Kissinger also called on experts in Cambridge. On August 4, 1965, he joined fifteen others for an intense meeting at Harvard in Seminar Room 2 of the International Legal Studies Center. Kissinger chaired the session, asking a series of questions that would help inform him of the problems facing the United States in Vietnam. Although he had long advocated a more forceful American military response there, his questions, taken from the transcript of the meeting, focused almost entirely on negotiations to end the war. Kissinger asked:




(a) Should negotiations await some change in the military situation?


(b) Can military operations be geared to support the object of bringing about negotiations?


(c) What non-military measures can we take during military operations to support the objective of negotiations? (What do we do if the Saigon regime collapses?)47





After addressing several queries about process, Kissinger then asked his colleagues to address a number of pressing questions under the heading “The Substance and Purpose of Negotiations”:




What are we trying to achieve? To show that wars of national liberation won’t work? To curb Chinese expansion? To exploit Sino-Soviet conflict? Johnson and Rusk say we are trying to preserve free choice for the people of Vietnam. Are we fighting against a certain method of change (wars of national liberation) or the fact of change?


Can we give content to the phrase “a free and independent South Vietnam”? Would South Vietnam alone be the subject of negotiation or should other problem areas be included?


What guarantees are needed? Who must participate in the guarantees?48





In hindsight, the questions and the answers were rather naive. Lucian Pye, MIT’s leading China scholar, suggested that the first objective really was “to get North Vietnam to cease their aid of the insurgency.”49 He spoke as if this was something that the Johnson administration had inadvertently overlooked, and something that was easy to accomplish. Harvard political scientist Samuel Huntington, who would later play a pivotal role in Saigon, suggested that the Johnson administration should try to “separate the Viet Cong from Hanoi and negotiate with them on the creation of a government in Saigon with Communist participation but not domination.”50 But Hanoi had already made clear that the total reunification of Vietnam was its first priority. Some at the meeting supported creating protective enclaves, walling off South Vietnam with seven or eight US military divisions.51 This suggestion carried no weight in the Johnson administration, and the president had been clear that there would be no enclave strategy. The last speaker of the day was MIT political scientist Norman Padelford, who concluded that Vietnam was the “wrong war at the wrong time in the wrong place.”52


It now seems clear, however, that one important lesson Kissinger took away from the Harvard seminar was that the “frame of reference of American discussion of Vietnam has been too narrow.”53 John King Fairbank, Harvard’s leading historian of China, offered this observation. After making several somewhat reductionist arguments about the place of China in Vietnamese history, Fairbank said that the United States needed to “enlarge our conception of what the US interest is.” He concluded, “The main thing is to try to get China into the act, to give her the idea that she has a responsible role in the world, to get her into the United Nations, and to establish contact with her at as many levels and in as many ways as possible.”54 Fairbank’s suggestion intrigued Kissinger. He would draw on this formulation when he joined the Nixon administration, linking China’s desires to improve relations with the United States with Nixon’s desire to end US involvement in Vietnam.


Even though he was intrigued by Fairbank’s reframing the Vietnam problem to include China, Kissinger’s focus on this day was squarely on negotiations. He argued that the United States could not enter into negotiations “unless we know what our objectives are, at least within broad limits.” He concluded that the administration must know what is “desirable from our point of view” and “what is bearable.”55 Kissinger, it seems, was embracing some of what John McNaughton had said during their April seminar. The Johnson administration had no idea how this war was going to end, Kissinger feared, because it had no idea what it wanted. What could Johnson live with in regard to the future of South Vietnam? What would be the price of that future? No one in Cambridge was asking those questions, and Kissinger suspected that few in Washington were, either.


Nonetheless, on the eve of his first trip to Vietnam in October 1965, he decided to arrange one last set of meetings with Washington officials. He met with William Bundy, Johnson’s assistant secretary of state for East Asian and Pacific Affairs, who warned that optimistic reports from the CIA masked the reality.56 He then visited CIA officials, including William Colby, who was the former Saigon station chief. Colby assured Kissinger that the South Vietnamese forces were more than capable of handling the People’s Liberation Armed Forces (PLAF), and that new recruits had allowed the government to expand its pacification programs aimed at destroying the NLF’s infrastructure in rural provinces.57 A later meeting with CIA director Admiral William Raborn, who was also rather optimistic about America’s chances in Vietnam, revealed that the top intelligence officer knew little about the particulars of the war and was often confused about Saigon officials. Kissinger concluded that Raborn, despite his optimism, “was amazingly badly informed” on Vietnam.58


Walt Rostow, an economist now working at the State Department, also offered a positive picture. He believed that the Saigon government was faring well against the guerrillas and that the limited pacification program had shown some positive early results. Rostow told Kissinger that the war could be won if the “main forces of the Viet Cong” were “smashed” and if the United States could make the “North Vietnamese… cease their direction and supply” of the PLAF.59 A short visit with McNaughton exposed that Kissinger’s Harvard seminar guest had not softened his position on withdrawal in the last six months and that he lacked Rostow’s enthusiasm for the war. After showing Kissinger several internal Defense Department studies that indicated very little probability of success, McNaughton told him, “Let’s face it… At some point on this road we will have to cut the balls off the people we are now supporting in Vietnam.” He suggested that if Kissinger really wanted to help Lodge out with his study, he should “address [himself] to the question of how we can cut their balls off.”60


Kissinger came away from these meetings more disillusioned about American tactics in Vietnam but not about its wartime aims. He still believed that the United States was fundamentally correct to challenge Communist expansion in South Vietnam, but he feared that the Johnson administration’s tactics were flawed—that the slow squeeze it had committed itself to in Vietnam was not going to push Communist forces into the sea. Without the complete commitment to a military victory, Kissinger believed, the administration was going to have to find a political settlement to the war. But how could it find a political settlement if Johnson had not defined what was acceptable? Kissinger thought that the problems in Vietnam were strategic, not necessarily tactical. The goal, therefore, was simply to develop an overall strategic outlook for the war that cemented the United States’ geopolitical objectives with its modes of operation.


Kissinger outlined this problem in a preliminary report to Lodge submitted on the eve of his trip, where he challenged some fundamental American assumptions about the war. He argued that Johnson had been wrong in applying gradual military pressure against the Communists. He told Lodge he believed the president had erred when he announced on April 7, 1965, in a speech at Johns Hopkins University, that he was “prepared to enter into unconditional discussions” with Hanoi.61 Kissinger thought that using terms such as “unconditional negotiations,” “cease-fire,” and “tacit mutual concessions” was “demoralizing to our friends.”62 He also wondered where talk of negotiations with Hanoi would lead. “It is true that we cannot know all the elements of a negotiating position in advance,” he wrote Lodge. “But we do know that we will have to adopt an attitude towards the NLF: we must know whether we will strive for an all-Vietnamese or simply South Vietnamese solution; we must have ideas on how to police an agreement. We must be precise on these issues, there is grave danger that negotiations will primarily concern the extent of our concessions. Our Vietnamese allies may lose confidence. The Communists, in short, could repeat the pattern of previous successful civil wars.”63 Lodge called Kissinger’s report “a remarkable contribution from someone who has never been here.”64


During his three-week trip to Vietnam in October 1965, Kissinger met with several senior US military leaders, including General William Westmoreland, commander of Military Assistance Command in Vietnam (MACV), who assured him that the war was going well. Westmoreland informed him that it would take nineteen months to pacify about half of the country and another eighteen months after that to control nearly 80 percent of South Vietnam. Everyone on Westmoreland’s staff had the same rosy predictions. Kissinger told Lodge, “If I listened to everybody’s description of how we were succeeding, it is not easy for me to see how the Vietcong are still surviving.”65 Kissinger met other Americans who had similarly optimistic predictions. After one briefing at the Second Corps headquarters, Kissinger concluded that “the Army has degenerated. They have produced a group of experts at giving briefings whose major interest is to overpower you with floods of meaningless statistics and to either kid themselves or deliberately kid you.”66 He grew increasingly skeptical about US tactics in Vietnam during his visit, but still fundamentally believed in its war aim of challenging Communist expansion.


Kissinger left Saigon in early November 1965, and hidden away in his diary entry of November 2 is the birth of the Nixon administration’s “peace with honor” formulation, based on his own analysis of the situation: “We have to come out honorably in Vietnam.”67 Later, as national security adviser and secretary of state, with the largest national security assessment capabilities in the world at his disposal, Kissinger still relied most heavily on his own calculations. He thought that his strategic compass pointed truer than most, so why not depend upon his own virtues? He also considered himself an action-intellectual. He was bored grading papers and giving lectures. Even before Harvard granted him tenure, Kissinger was a regular in Washington. One of his great frustrations was that Kennedy and Johnson had not relied more heavily upon his expertise.


Ending the War on Acceptable Terms


On the eve of Nixon’s inauguration in 1969, Kissinger’s views on Vietnam were further clarified in a now-famous Foreign Affairs article. Niall Ferguson has called this essay “one of the most brilliant analyses of the American predicament in Vietnam that anyone has ever written.”68 Hyperbole aside, Kissinger’s insights are intriguing. He argued that the United States had a conceptual problem in Vietnam, which was its tendency “to apply traditional maxims of both strategy and nation-building to a situation which they did not fit.” The Johnson administration, aided by General William Westmoreland, who was in charge of all allied military operations as commander of the MACV, had lost sight of one of the “cardinal maxims of guerrilla warfare: The guerrilla wins if he does not lose. The conventional army loses if it does not win.”69 Westmoreland had pursued a conventional strategy of attrition against the insurgents, Kissinger argued, following “the classic doctrine that victory depended on a combination of control of territory and attrition of the opponent.” Westmoreland believed that defeating the NLF’s main forces “would cause the guerrillas to wither on the vine.”70 He spoke of a future crossover point in the war when Hanoi would find its substantial losses in support of the southern revolution unacceptable and would quit the fight.71 Westmoreland’s tactics were more complicated than Kissinger’s quick visit to Vietnam revealed, but this did not stop the Harvard professor from making quick judgments about what was needed to win in Southeast Asia.


Westmoreland’s crossover point proved illusory. “Military successes,” Kissinger wrote in the Foreign Affairs article, “could not be translated into permanent political advantage.”72 He doubted that the Johnson administration understood the fundamental conception of the war from Hanoi’s point of view: “We fought a military war; our opponents fought a political one. We sought physical attrition; our opponents aimed for psychological exhaustion.”73 Kissinger thought that the Communists had achieved their objectives while diminishing the American will to continue aiding South Vietnam.


He also believed that the Johnson administration had severely mishandled the peace negotiations. Harking back to his 1965 trip, Kissinger again argued that Johnson did not understand that “our diplomacy and our strategy were conducted in isolation from each other.”74 As Kissinger had noted in his report for Lodge back in 1965, Johnson’s major mistake, an unforced, self-inflicted wound, was to announce that he would go anywhere and meet with anyone to discuss peace in Vietnam. The president initially made this announcement during an April 1965 speech at Johns Hopkins University, but he repeated it often. Kissinger believed that this gave a distinct advantage to Hanoi, allowing its leaders to determine where and when to engage in diplomacy. How could the United States enter into unconditional negotiations with Hanoi “unless we know what our objectives are, at least within broad limits?” Most important, Kissinger believed—as he’d first argued back in the August 1965 Harvard seminar—that Washington must know what is “desirable from our point of view” and “what is bearable.”75 The Johnson administration had no idea how the war was going to end because it had no idea what it wanted. Kissinger concluded that Nixon did not have to repeat these same mistakes.


The way forward was to combine military pressure with careful diplomacy based on the national interest. Kissinger ruled out a unilateral withdrawal, noting:




The commitment of 500,000 Americans has settled the issue of the importance of Vietnam. For what is involved now is confidence in American promises. However fashionable it is to ridicule the terms “credibility” or “prestige,” they are not empty phrases; other nations gear their actions to ours only if they can count on our steadiness. The collapse of the American effort in Vietnam would not mollify many critics; most of them would simply add the charge of unreliability to the accusation of bad judgment. Those whose safety or national goals depend on American commitments could only be dismayed.… Unilateral withdrawal, or a settlement which unintentionally amounts to the same thing, could therefore lead to the erosion of restraints, and to an even more dangerous international situation. No American policymaker can simply dismiss these dangers.76





Remaining steadfast in support of the Saigon government did not mean that the war would go on forever. Kissinger maintained that the Communists could not win the war militarily and that therefore they would be forced to negotiate a mutual withdrawal from South Vietnam. He had no evidence to support these claims, but they certainly found fertile ground among Johnson’s critics. Kissinger argued that negotiations could be influenced by military strikes at key times and places that would make it more difficult for the Communists. If Washington and Hanoi could agree on a mutual troop withdrawal caused in part by the pain of these military strikes, it would then be up to the South Vietnamese themselves to figure out their own political future. Such an approach would also allow the United States to more closely coordinate its military operations with diplomacy. Kissinger felt strongly that separating military issues from political issues in negotiations could also help the United States avoid a direct confrontation with its South Vietnamese allies if differences of opinion cropped up during peace talks. This was his general framework for the negotiations he would soon lead secretly in Paris, where he met with high-ranking North Vietnamese officials for four years to hammer out an acceptable peace. These first principles never changed, but Kissinger would eventually surrender them one by one. In fact, his requirement that military and political be separated eventually granted Hanoi a free pass in South Vietnam after an American troop withdrawal.


Of course, Hanoi thought that Kissinger’s proposals were naive and preposterous. Having fought the French for decades and having committed untold thousands to the southern revolution, Communist Party leaders were not about to separate military issues from political ones. For the Communists, the war had always been about the political future of Vietnam south of the seventeenth parallel. Reunification of the country under the socialist banner was the party’s first principle and this would not be negotiated away, no matter how elegantly Kissinger claimed that it could be. As Nhan Dan, the party’s daily newspaper, later declared, “The military and political aspects of the issue are inseparable because the underlying cause of the war is the American imposition of a stooge administration on the South Vietnamese people.”77 As one former foreign ministry official offered, “The military is the bell, but diplomacy is the sound of the bell.”78 Kissinger misread Hanoi’s intentions and capabilities perfectly.


From his first days at the White House, however, Kissinger believed that it was possible to end the war on acceptable terms. This required a sophisticated strategy based on linkage and leverage. He had no doubt that he was the only one in the Nixon administration who could handle this difficult assignment. It is not entirely clear why Kissinger had such self-confidence in his ability to negotiate an end to this deadly conflict. He had no experience in serious negotiations before joining the White House. In fact, much of his approach in Vietnam was based on outdated theories about cold calculations of power. He did not understand how to negotiate peace because he ultimately thought he could force the enemy to bend its knee through military force alone.


His first order of business along this torturous path was to develop a strategy for the Vietnam War in the midst of serious military and political constraints. To that end, in December 1968, before he actually took up his office in the White House, Kissinger hired the RAND Corporation, a think tank with strong ties to the Defense Department, to prepare a study outlining contingency options in Vietnam. This was more than an academic exercise. Kissinger had been a consultant at RAND and respected its work. He had heard that RAND was now “dovish” on the war, but he also knew that it would explore all options, including those he would outline in his Foreign Affairs essay. Fred Kiel led the RAND team and Daniel Ellsberg, a former marine, was its top analyst. Kissinger had some history with Ellsberg. Shortly after the 1968 election, he told a RAND seminar audience that he had “learned more from Dan Ellsberg than anyone else in Vietnam.”79 Ellsberg did have considerable wartime experience, and he had just finished a detailed secret history of American involvement in Vietnam for the Pentagon. Two years later, he would leak this study to the New York Times, much to Nixon’s dismay.


Ellsberg wrote the first draft of the RAND study and presented it to Kissinger and a few close associates on December 20, 1968. Kissinger wondered why there was no “win” option listed among the various potential policy choices. Ellsberg later recalled telling Kissinger, “I don’t believe there is a win option in Vietnam.”80 Kissinger also noted that there was no mention of coercive power, no threat option. Ellsberg agreed to revise the paper to include these two options. Just before the inauguration, he sent a new draft to Kissinger that described a full spectrum of possibilities. At one extreme was “military escalation aimed at negotiated victory.” Military options under this category could entail “air and ground operations in Cambodia,” “unrestricted bombing of North Vietnam including Hanoi,” and the mining of Haiphong harbor. Any combination of these options would be a purposeful escalation of the war. The paper argued that “the threat or onset of higher levels [of escalation] is likely to bring major concessions from DRV, perhaps sufficient for a satisfactory settlement.” The overall goal of this option was to “destroy the will and capability of North Vietnam to support the insurgency.”81 This option clearly appealed to Kissinger.


At the other extreme was “unilateral withdrawal of all U.S. forces.”82 Kissinger quickly denounced the withdrawal option, claiming that it was not a viable choice. He did not want this idea presented to the president, so it was deleted from the final list of options discussed by the full NSC on January 25, 1969. The fallback extreme position was a “substantial reduction in U.S. presence while seeking a compromise settlement.”83 This option involved gaining approval from Saigon to slowly begin a phased reduction of US troops to about 100,000 by the end of 1971 while building up South Vietnamese military forces. There were other options in Ellsberg’s paper, but none of them was taken seriously.


In addition to the four outcomes outlined in Ellsberg’s paper, the January 25 NSC session heard a range of military strategies. The Joint Chiefs wanted to build up the South Vietnamese armed forces without withdrawing US forces, but Laird and Nixon chafed at that idea because it would add significant costs to an already expensive war with no promise of success. The Chiefs countered that at its current pace, it would take two to three years to modernize the South Vietnamese forces to the point that it could cope with the Communist military threat. The modernization scheme was not intended “to build an RVNAF [Republic of Vietnam Armed Forces] capable of dealing with an external (North Vietnam) threat.”84 Kissinger worried that any “escalation of force might suggest to the other side that our staying power has been compressed.”85


When the long NSC meeting ended, Nixon had not made a concrete decision on any of these options. By default, then, the two extreme options were now unofficial Nixon administration policy. No one present at the NSC meeting could have predicted that the administration would pursue military escalation and troop withdrawals simultaneously. Ellsberg later agreed that it was difficult to imagine trying to bomb Hanoi into submission while at the same time supporting a policy of unilateral US troop withdrawals.86 Just what was the United States supposed to negotiate at Paris? What leverage did it have? How could US negotiators demand a mutual withdrawal of US and North Vietnamese troops from South Vietnam if the United States was going to withdraw its troops anyway because of domestic political pressure? How would Hanoi respond to an escalation of the war? Would it put more military pressure on the Saigon government? Was the Saigon government ready to take over the war militarily? Answers to these questions remained elusive. This strategic confusion, caused in part by Nixon’s refusal to be pinned down on a specific policy option, was exacerbated by a confrontation between Kissinger and Defense Secretary Melvin Laird.


Kissinger and Laird disagreed on some fundamental aspects of Vietnam policy, especially the redeployment of US forces. Their tactical disagreements turned into a personal rivalry that played out during key meetings of the NSC. In early March 1969, Laird presented Nixon with a concrete plan to unilaterally withdraw US forces from Vietnam. Citing political pressures at home, Laird had requested specific plans to turn the war over to Saigon. He also pressed General Creighton Abrams, the US forces commander, to draw up firm plans (with hard numbers and dates) for the withdrawal. Some military reports suggested that increased funding for the RVNAF, first implemented in late 1968, had paid off, resulting in considerable progress.87


During an NSC meeting on March 28, 1969, General Andrew Goodpaster, who had served on Nixon’s transition team, declared that “the caliber of the force [South Vietnamese armed forces] has improved. There can be no question about their improvement.… We are, in fact, closer to de-Americanizing the war.”88 Goodpaster had been a trusted military officer during the Eisenhower years and Nixon had come to respect his opinion while serving as vice president. Nixon often responded to complex military programs with a great deal of skepticism, but he liked Goodpaster and this helped Laird sell the program of an American withdrawal.


Nixon was encouraged by Goodpaster’s comments. “We need a plan,” the president declared. “We must get a sense of urgency in the training of the South Vietnamese. We need improvement in terms of supplies and training.”89 Just as Kissinger was about to intervene, Laird interrupted and told the president, “I agree, but not with your term ‘de-Americanizing.’ What we need is a term ‘Vietnamizing’ to put emphasis on the right issue.”90 Nixon agreed with the semantic and policy change, cutting Kissinger out of one of the most important strategic decisions of the war.


“Vietnamization,” as Laird’s plan was unfortunately called, had been tossed about by the Johnson administration for years. Johnson had once famously said, “We are not about to send American boys 9 or 10,000 miles away from home to do what Asian boys ought to be doing for themselves.”91 Laird now thought that the Saigon government and its forces were capable of taking over more responsibility for the war, because the latest reports showed considerable progress on the military front.92 He wanted to reduce the combat role of US troops and begin the phased US withdrawal, while at the same time pressing ahead with new military supplies for South Vietnam. Even Abrams, who had been generally cool on Saigon’s progress, reported in March 1969 that the South Vietnamese performance had improved substantially. But Abrams thought “Vietnamization” should move forward only if three indicators were favorable: (1) progress in the pacification program designed to eliminate the top Communist cadres, (2) continued improvement in the South Vietnamese army, and (3) a reduction in the direct threat to the Saigon government from North Vietnam.


Laird was well aware of Kissinger’s objections and Abrams’s conditions, but he pressed forward anyway with a plan to withdraw fifty to seventy thousand American troops in 1969 alone and the drafting of a long-range plan for the total withdrawal of US forces. Laird was no dove, but he had concluded long ago that a total military victory in Vietnam was unlikely at acceptable cost and risk and that a continued force presence there was doing more harm than good. He was especially critical of Westmoreland and Abrams for their handling of the South Vietnamese army. He thought the military responsibility was being transferred painfully slowly under Abrams and that this had created dependency in Saigon. President Thieu, of course, hated to see the US troops leave, but if a withdrawal had to happen, Thieu hoped it was joined by increased American aid for South Vietnam. Abrams and Thieu also thought that the US withdrawal would be accompanied by a withdrawal of all North Vietnamese troops from South Vietnam. Laird suffered no delusions that Kissinger was likely to win this point through negotiations, nor that the military could expel Communist forces from South Vietnam. He also understood that the American people would remain skeptical about claims of Saigon’s substantial military progress. The only way forward seemed to be troop withdrawals and a substantial buildup of the South Vietnamese military, significantly above 1968 levels.


Laird’s plan appealed to Nixon. He could satisfy the doves by withdrawing US forces, and at the same time, the hawks would be pleased that the US was actually increasing its aid to the South Vietnamese government. He also credited Laird’s “enthusiastic advocacy” of Vietnamization as the basis for his decision, further alienating his national security adviser.93 Kissinger was apoplectic. He argued that Vietnamization would ultimately weaken the US bargaining position in Paris, because a US withdrawal would convince Hanoi that the United States no longer cared about the political outcome in South Vietnam. How could Laird take away one of the most important levers that the United States had in Paris—the presence of a large number of American troops? As Kissinger put it in his memoirs, he had had “great hope for negotiations,” but the administration now risked “throwing away our position in a series of unreciprocated concessions. At home, the more we sought to placate the critics, the more we discouraged those who were willing to support a strategy for victory, but who could not understand continued sacrifice for something so elusive as honorable withdrawal.”94 Throughout the negotiation process, Kissinger complained that domestic political considerations were putting too many constraints on the US negotiating team in Paris. It was impossible to implement his broad strategic plans in the face of such obstacles.


A frustrated Kissinger warned the president that Laird’s plan had many pitfalls. “Our main asset,” he wrote to Nixon in late March 1969, “is the presence of our troops in South Vietnam. Hanoi has no hope of attaining its objective of controlling the South unless it can get us to withdraw our forces.” He assured the president that the DRV could not force the United States to withdraw its forces “by military means.” The implication was clear: why would Nixon agree to Laird’s plan when he did not have to? There was no military pressure for the United States to withdraw. He also believed that the South Vietnamese forces would not be ready to take over the war for a number of years. Kissinger appealed to Nixon’s need to appear strong in light of domestic political pressure, stating, “Our liabilities are the domestic opposition in the United States and the continuing weak base of the Saigon government.”95 Nixon remained unconvinced by Kissinger’s appeals.


A week later, Kissinger tried a different approach. He suggested that Hanoi had used its forces “the way a bullfighter uses his cape: to keep us lunging in strategically unproductive areas and to prevent us from grinding down the guerrilla forces.” The major problem now facing the United States if Nixon accepted Laird’s Vietnamization plan was that “de-escalation would amount to self-imposed defusing of our most important asset.… All this suggests that we should not agree to de-escalate now.” Kissinger begged the president to hold firm, to not give in to the political temptation of withdrawing forces. He doubted that troop withdrawals would have much political meaning if they were not accompanied by a major escalation in military strikes. The planning of the two had to be carefully coordinated, and Kissinger assured Nixon that he was very close to having “the overall game plan” in place.96 The president worried, however, that public opposition to the war was growing and that if he did not show progress in ending the war by the 1970 midterm political elections, protests would increase and Congress would cut funding for the war, exactly at the time when new resources were needed to support the Saigon government and its forces. “If we had no elections, it would be fine,” Nixon told Kissinger and the rest of the NSC.97 But time was now another enemy in the Vietnam War. Domestic politics mattered to Nixon. Elections mattered to Kissinger, too, far more than he has been willing to admit, but Nixon did not think he understood electoral pressures.


Nixon announced his administration’s Vietnamization plan on April 1, 1969. Rather than implementing a unilateral withdrawal, he tied the redeployment of American forces to the other side’s actions. The plan called for the complete withdrawal of US troops six months after Hanoi completed its own withdrawal from South Vietnam. Nixon erroneously believed that he could simply outlast Hanoi if he piled on the military pressure. “The key point,” he claimed, was not “the timetable but rather getting Hanoi to comply with the conditions for withdrawal.”98 The following week, Nixon had Laird draw up the formal withdrawal plans (National Security Study Memorandum 36), complete with timetables for transferring the US combat role to South Vietnam. Ironically, NSSM 36 (and another report, NSSM 37) assumed that the war would drag on for years in South Vietnam, that Saigon would face increased military pressure from the Communists, and that there would be no mutual troop withdrawal. This report eventually proved reliable as the final peace agreement signed between North Vietnam and the United States allowed ten North Vietnamese infantry divisions to remain in South Vietnam following the complete US troop withdrawal.


The mutual troop withdrawal would be the subject of many hours of negotiating in Paris. Kissinger would continue to press for a mutual withdrawal, but he did so as thousands of US troops were leaving Vietnam. Nixon would periodically reassert his steadfast determination to see a mutual withdrawal. Kissinger complained to anyone who would listen that Nixon and Laird had tied his hands in negotiations.


During the battle over troop withdrawals, Kissinger turned his interest to military strikes. He believed that the United States had to increase its military pressure on Hanoi if it was unilaterally going to withdraw its own forces from South Vietnam. He envisioned a major escalation in the bombing and an expansion of the war’s parameters to send Hanoi the message that troop withdrawals did not mean that the United States was in full retreat. Attacks against North Vietnamese assets would also buy Saigon time, now that American troops were being withdrawn. Kissinger also wanted to ensure that Laird would never be able to outmaneuver him at another NSC meeting. Accordingly, he devised a questionnaire, now known as National Security Study Memorandum 1 (NSSM 1), on the war’s progress for all departments and agencies, which would keep them busy compiling massive studies while he tried to regain the president’s confidence. Kissinger recalled Ellsberg to the White House to collate the answers to the questions. The study took months and was totally inconclusive, just what Kissinger wanted. “I’m tying up the bureaucracy for a year,” he explained to an aide shortly after Nixon’s inauguration, “and buying the new president some time.”99


Part of Kissinger’s strategy was to use that time to convince Nixon that Laird’s troop withdrawals were not going to help end the war on favorable terms. Kissinger appealed to Nixon’s interest in increased military strikes against the Communists when he asked Laird and the chairman of the Joint Chiefs, General Earle Wheeler, what tactics could be used to signal to Hanoi that there was “a new firm hand at the helm.”100 The key issue for Kissinger was how to apply enough military pressure to coerce the Communists to make some concessions in Paris. Wheeler thought that carrying out air attacks against the DRV could signal that the Nixon administration was more formidable than its predecessor. Lyndon Johnson had refused to bomb near Hanoi, and he never launched offensive military operations against North Vietnamese sanctuaries inside Laos or Cambodia, operations that Kissinger would soon insist would be essential in the US effort to buy Saigon time to stand on its own feet militarily. He also thought military operations in Laos and Cambodia against Communist havens would send the right message to Saigon. Laird, however, warned Kissinger that new attacks against North Vietnam, or in Laos and Cambodia, would create political nightmares for the administration.101


Laird’s warning was prophetic. He was always more conscious of the political repercussions of policy, but Kissinger pressed on, telling Laird and Wheeler that their suggestions were not bold enough. Kissinger wanted Wheeler to “find ways to ratchet up the military pressure that did not risk breaking the negotiations.”102 He disagreed with Laird when the defense secretary claimed that MACV was doing everything possible to keep the military pressure on Hanoi and the PLAF. Laird understood, however, that stepping up military operations went against public demands that the war be brought to a close. If Kissinger was going to force options on the rest of the administration that included military escalation, he was going to have to do so without Laird’s full support and out of the public view.


This impasse led to one of the most fateful choices of the war, the decision to bomb Cambodia. The decision did not come lightly, but it was fully embraced by Kissinger. Years later, Kissinger claimed that the decision to attack North Vietnamese sanctuaries along Cambodia’s border with South Vietnam was in direct response to a Communist military offensive that began on February 22, 1969. He maintained that Hanoi had violated the 1968 bombing halt understanding by launching new attacks over the Demilitarized Zone (DMZ). Nixon called the attacks “small-scale but savage” and thought the offensive was a “deliberate test, clearly designed to take measure of me and my administration at the outset.”103 In typical Nixon fashion, the president said, “My immediate instinct was to retaliate.”104 Kissinger agreed: “If we let the Communists manipulate us at this early stage, we might never be able to negotiate with them from a position of equality, much less one of strength.”105


But even before the Communist offensive, Nixon and Kissinger had been studying how to destroy North Vietnamese sanctuaries in Cambodia. During the 1968 presidential race, both had challenged Johnson’s decision not to strike Cambodia. In early January 1969, before his inauguration, Nixon asked for reports on North Vietnamese strength in Cambodia and on what Abrams was doing “to destroy the build up there.”106 The president concluded, “I think a very definite change of policy toward Cambodia probably should be one of the first orders of business when we get in.”107


Years later, Kissinger claimed that he had asked Nixon to delay the bombing of the Cambodia base area because he wanted to “give negotiations a chance.”108 He also claimed that he had encouraged Nixon to normalize diplomatic relations with Cambodia prior to the air raids in the hopes that the Cambodian government could then pressure the PAVN to withdraw.109


But Kissinger’s claims are disingenuous. In a phone conversation with Nixon on March 8, a week before the president approved the mission, Kissinger told him he had to act before private peace talks began in Paris or he would “be accused of insincerity.”110 Kissinger also made it clear to Nixon that he favored the bombings to influence the negotiations. “We have combined heavy military pressure with a deliberate pace in Paris,” Kissinger wrote to him in a memo. “We have specifically refrained from taking the initiative on opening private talks.”111 Feeling some time pressure, therefore, Nixon asked Kissinger to consult with Abrams on the bombing missions.


The general had been studying this problem for months. He replied that enemy strength in Cambodia included “11 known base areas, 3 divisions, and perhaps 5 to 7 regiments” along the border with South Vietnam.112 Abrams insisted that he now had credible evidence of where these PAVN forces were and, more important to Nixon, where the secret Communist headquarters for the southern revolution (Central Office South Vietnam, or COSVN) was located. The intelligence on the targets “appeared to be very accurate and sound” and there “was every reason to believe there would be no Cambodians in the target area.”113


The BREAKFAST Bombings


On February 18, over breakfast in the secretary of defense’s conference room at the Pentagon, Kissinger, Wheeler, and Laird met with two of Abrams’s staff (no representative from the State Department was present), who briefed them on the Communist buildup in Base Area 353 inside Cambodia. One of the aides took notes, referring to the meeting as “the breakfast group.”114 From that moment on, the mission to attack PAVN sanctuaries in Cambodia was given the unfortunate code name BREAKFAST.


Following the breakfast meeting, Kissinger ordered Colonel Ray Sitton, known in the Pentagon as “Mr. B-52,” to develop a list of bombing options that would form the backbone of the BREAKFAST attacks. As he was completing his assignment, Sitton got a call from another colonel, Alexander Haig, who told him that they had to fly to Brussels to brief Nixon on the Cambodian target list. Nixon was on his first trip abroad as president, shoring up the European alliance that had been badly shaken during the Johnson presidency. Before the briefing, Sitton asked Wheeler whether he was “selling something” or simply providing the president with information.115 Wheeler responded that he trusted Sitton to know what mood the president was in and to act accordingly. Kissinger suggested that the briefing take place on the short flight from Brussels to London, but Nixon was so busy practicing his remarks that he did not meet with Sitton. Instead, Kissinger took the briefing.


Sitton assumed that he had traveled all that way in vain until he got a cable from Kissinger approving the target list. Kissinger demanded that Sitton keep the mission a secret, however, even from the pilots. With Kissinger’s help, Sitton devised a plan to use phony logbooks to cover up the illegal attacks. “There are valid targets right along the border [inside South Vietnam] adjacent to that,” Sitton explained. “We will merely show in the record that we flew a mission to this area.”116 The intrigue continued with each new set of targets. Sitton described going to the White House basement entrance, where Kissinger would meet him: “Dr. Kissinger would look at it [the sortie target], approve it or amend it, whatever he felt like doing.”117 Later it was revealed that the air force chief of staff knew nothing of the Cambodian bombing missions. It was Kissinger, and Kissinger alone, who accepted and approved the bombing targets. Even Sitton later questioned this practice: “I don’t know what he was using or his reason for varying them.” Wheeler told Sitton that the reason for selecting certain targets did not matter, “because it seemed to be working.”118


On March 15, Nixon used the pretext of Communist rocket attacks against Hue and Saigon to order the immediate implementation of the BREAKFAST plan. Nixon told Kissinger that the order was “not appealable” and that he should keep Henry Cabot Lodge Jr., now head of the Paris delegation, and Ellsworth Bunker, ambassador to South Vietnam, in the dark about the attacks.119 No one in Saigon was to make any public statement about the Communists’ attacks until after the US planes hit their targets, and then only after Nixon himself gave approval. “I mean it,” the president declared, “not one thing is to be said to anyone publicly or privately, on or off the record, about this new attack on Saigon.”120 He also ordered that the State Department not be notified about the attacks inside Cambodia until “only after the point of no return.”121 Rogers was not to be trusted with information about the bombing, Kissinger told Laird in a phone call later that day, because some senior State Department officials had previously gone public in opposition to raids in neutral Cambodia.122


After Nixon’s order, Kissinger forwarded an approved target list to Sitton, who sent the coordinates on to Saigon. From there a courier passed them along to the appropriate radar stations and control sites. After the normal mission briefing, pilots and crews received secret instructions from a ground radar station in South Vietnam just after takeoff. According to journalist Seymour Hersh, who gained access to Sitton’s secret target lists through the Freedom of Information Act in the 1980s, “The radar sites, using sophisticated computers, would in effect take over the flying of the B-52s for the final moments, guiding them to their real targets over Cambodia and computing the precise moment to drop the bombs.”123 When the mission was complete, the officer in charge burned all evidence of the real target. Then, he wrote up a fake report showing that the sortie scheduled to hit a target in South Vietnam was actually flown. He included a full accounting of everything used in the mission to complete the deception. This process was repeated with every new target list.


The first BREAKFAST strike at two p.m. on March 17, 1969, Washington time, launched a secret fourteen-month nighttime bombing campaign, known as Operation Menu, which hit the same six PAVN base areas in Cambodia until the end of May 1970. During Menu, American B-52s dropped 108,823 tons of ordnance and flew 3,875 sorties. Laird later confirmed that between March 1969 and March 1970, the Menu bombing amounted to “nearly one-fifth the tonnage dropped by U.S. forces in the Pacific theater during all of World War II.”124


Despite this destruction, by March 1970, the primary strategic objective had not been met. The bombing campaigns actually drove the North Vietnamese troops deeper into Cambodia, not into South Vietnam, as planned. Although thousands of North Vietnamese troops were killed during the entire Cambodian intervention, Hanoi replaced these troops without melting its strategic reserve. Nixon’s obsession with finding the secret Communist headquarters, reported to be just inside the Cambodian border, near what US officials called the parrot’s beak because of its geographical features, also ended in disappointment. The mobile offices for the southern revolution (COSVN) were not bound to architecture and highways as were governmental offices in the United States, so escape was relatively easy. Finally, some scholars have claimed that the US bombing raids drove rural Cambodians into the arms of the Khmer Rouge, whose genocidal program was not yet in view, destabilizing the Cambodian government, which had eventually allied itself with the United States.125


It took five years for the American public to find out the true scale of the secret bombing of Cambodia. Recounting these events, historian Greg Grandin concludes, “That’s how an illegal, covert war came to be waged on a neutral country, a war run out of a basement by a presidential appointee who a few months earlier was a Harvard professor.”126


But this does not explain fully why Kissinger pursued this illegal tactic so recklessly. For Kissinger, every action usually had a dual purpose. The secret bombing of Cambodia was no exception. Kissinger firmly believed that striking PAVN sanctuaries inside Cambodia would hurt Hanoi’s ability to wage war in South Vietnam and that this in turn would have an impact on negotiations in Paris. From a material perspective, there is no doubt that he was right. He has always linked Hanoi’s decision to escalate the conflict with his willingness to support the bombing campaign in Cambodia. In his justification for his wartime policies, Ending the Vietnam War, Kissinger claims that the decision to bomb Cambodia came only after the PAVN offensive in early 1969 that killed nearly two thousand Americans. Of the attacks, he writes that Hanoi understood that they had “humiliated the new President.”127


But Kissinger also believed that he could isolate Laird and Rogers by so resolutely supporting the secret bombing in Cambodia, because he knew the president supported it, too. Laird was not necessarily against bombing Cambodia, but he thought it should be made public. He later explained, “I told Nixon you couldn’t keep the bombing in Cambodia secret.… It was going to come out anyway and it would build distrust.… I was all for hitting those targets in Cambodia, but I wanted it public, because I could justify before Congress and the American people that these were occupied territories of the North Vietnamese, no longer Cambodian territory.”128 Rogers also warned against keeping the bombing secret, and both told the president that they disagreed with his political reasons for not going public. Kissinger knew better than to challenge the president. He supported the secret bombing of Cambodia because it served his purposes in Saigon, Paris, and in Washington, as well as his strategic imperatives.


Three days after the bombing began, on March 20, 1969, Kissinger called Nixon with good news: “Hanoi has accepted bilateral private talks.” He concluded that “we now know how badly they need them.”129 The implication, of course, was that there was some correlation between the Cambodian bombing campaign and the DRV’s willingness to resume peace talks in Paris. Nixon and Kissinger thought that added military pressure on Hanoi could end the war on favorable terms within the year, and they were delighted to learn that Hanoi wanted to meet again. They were both eager to move on to what they considered more important foreign policy issues, such as thawing relations with the Soviet Union and “opening” China. Kissinger fed that part of Nixon that believed that “a little fourth-rate country” like Vietnam “had to have a breaking point.”130 He also encouraged the president to think that acts of toughness—such as bombing Cambodia—could substitute for tactical and strategic disadvantage in Vietnam.


Nothing could have been further from the truth. Although Nixon did not make the official announcement of his plans to withdraw American troops from Vietnam until April 1, 1969, Hanoi understood much earlier that this was the policy that he would be forced to support. DRV negotiators hoped to use the Paris talks to speed up the withdrawal process.131 They understood that Nixon would need to wind down the war through troop withdrawals if he wanted to win reelection. Therefore, it was not the bombing of Cambodia but, rather, the withdrawal of American troops that rekindled Hanoi’s desire to meet with Nixon’s representatives in Paris. Party leaders concluded that if the DRV endured the American bombing campaigns, they could destroy Washington’s staying power. Ultimately, DRV leaders would concede nothing short of a unilateral American withdrawal. This negotiating position should have been clear to Kissinger in 1969. He later admitted that he had underestimated Hanoi’s willingness to accept enormous sacrifices to reach its geopolitical goals.


For all his machinations to coordinate military strikes with diplomacy, Kissinger never fully understood that Nixon’s domestic political needs were also a major driving force behind US negotiations. Nixon had to agree to Laird’s Vietnamization plan because there was no path to reelection without following through on his campaign promise to end the war. He thought that bringing troops home could actually bolster public support for continuing the war by sending massive arms shipments to South Vietnam and using US air power to cripple Hanoi’s military capabilities. The escalation of the war in neighboring Cambodia also had a strategic imperative: to gain time for South Vietnam to build its armed forces in preparation for battle against North Vietnam.


Kissinger felt no moral qualms about escalating the war. The fact that the bombing did not destroy COSVN, force the PAVN from Cambodia, or lead Hanoi to the bargaining table seemed not to faze him. Despite all evidence to the contrary, he and the president believed that the bombing had worked. Nixon was so pleased with the news that the North Vietnamese wanted to negotiate in Paris that he allowed Kissinger to take over the peace talks completely. This was a mistake for the usually politically astute Nixon. It gave his national security adviser what he wanted most, consolidation of the war decision making in his office, but it led to some imprudent choices. By the end of Nixon’s first six months in office, Kissinger had perfectly melded strategic imperatives with personal politics. He had taken a risk by supporting the secret bombings, but in his mind the attacks had succeeded. Now Hanoi had agreed to meet secretly in Paris and Kissinger was in complete control of those negotiations.
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